12-1-98 DA

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 92,803

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 24 1998

Fifth District Court of Appeal Case No: 96-01973

CLERK, SUPPEME COURT By\_ Chief Øeputy Clerk

RONALD SCHULTZ CITRUS COUNTY PROPERTY APPRAISER Petitioner

vs.

SUGARMILL WOODS, INC. Respondent

# PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON MERITS

Clark A. Stillwell, Esquire Florida Bar No. 202770 BRANNEN, STILLWELL & PERRIN, P.A. Post Office Box 250 Inverness, FL 33451-0250 Telephone: (352) 726-6767 Facsimile: (352) 726-8283 Attorneys for Petitioner

# **

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, Ronald Schultz, Citrus County Property Appraiser will be referred to as "Schultz" or "Petitioner." The Respondent, Sugarmill Woods, Inc. will be referred to as "Sugarmill" as applicable or "Respondent."

The property for which Sugarmill sought an agricultural exemption will be referred to as the "Sugarmill Parcel." The Sugarmill Property is bisected by Citrus County Road 480; the portion north of County Road 480 will be referred to as the "Northern Parcel" and the portion south of County Road 480 will be referred to as the "Southern Parcel."

References to the trial transcript will be indicated by (T-\_\_\_\_), record references will be indicated by (R- \_\_\_) and Exhibits will be indicated by (E-\_\_\_ or R-\_\_\_).

Given the repetitive nature of certain terms which have common acronyms for each term and for brevity sake, the following terms will be referred to by their acronyms:

1. Citrus County Department of Development Services - DDS

2. Citrus County Comprehensive Land Use Plan - CLUP

3. Citrus County Land Development Code - LDC

4. Planned Development - Residential - PDR

5. Value Adjustment Board - VAB

C:\WPDOCS\PROPERTY\SUPREME\SUPCTBRF\PRELIMIN.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The issues presented to this Court in the SCHULTZ petition concern the initial denial of the 1994 agricultural classification application by the Respondent, SUGARMILL, by the Petitioner, SCHULTZ, the confirmation of such by the trial court, and overturning of the trial court's opinion by the Fifth District Court of Appeals as to the SUGARMILL parcel.<sup>1</sup> The matter commenced with SUGARMILL's 1994 Agricultural classification application to SCHULTZ's office and culminated with the lower court's final judgment dated June 5, 1996 (SUGARMILL Parcel) on behalf of SCHULTZ; that Final Judgment found the contested agricultural classification was not a bona fide agricultural use. The trial court's final judgment as to the SUGARMILL parcel was appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeals. On February 6, 1998, the Fifth District Court of Appeals entered its decision; (published at 1998 WL 44481 (Fla. App. 5th Dist. 1998). As to the SUGARMILL parcel, the Fifth District reversed the trial court's decision and found the Respondent SUGARMILL's agricultural activities were not development and therefore in good faith and bonafide per §193.461 Fla. Stat.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The Love PGI parcel and legal issues therein are not before this Court.

The record on appeal establishes the following chronology of the events:

On or before March 31, 1994, SUGARMILL, timely filed a request for agricultural classification on its parcel in issue. The 1994 SUGARMILL agricultural classification application reflected a parcel representing 4300 acres allegedly being used for cattle crazing and 1,000 acres for forestry activities. (R-118, 759-60)

On June 30, 1994, the Appellee, SCHULTZ, granted, in part, the agricultural classification and denied the classification as to the remainder of each respective parcel. As to the SUGARMILL parcel, SCHULTZ granted the requested agricultural classification for 733.57 acres of planted pines (southern parcel) and 160 acres of pasture land (northern parcel) and denied the balance. SUGARMILL appealed the matter to the Citrus County Value Adjustment Board ("VAB"). At the VAB hearing, the issues raised centered on "legitimacy" of the cattle grazing activity under the Citrus County land use regulations. (T-201,336) The VAB affirmed the SCHULTZ's partial denial of the agricultural classification application.

On or about December 9, 1994, SUGARMILL instituted this matter in the Circuit Court, Fifth Judicial Circuit. The matter was tried by the lower Court on the Appellants' Amended Complaint dated January 11, 1995 and the Appellees' Affirmative Defenses

dated January 31, 1995. SUGARMILL'S Amended Complaint generally asserts that at all times material SUGARMILL was engaged in bona fide agricultural activities per § 193.461 Fla. Stat. and SCHULTZ improperly considered criteria other than the statutory criteria of §193.461 Fla. Stat. Based on the Petitioner's Petition for Writ of Certiorari, the relevant Affirmative Defenses by SCHULTZ in the lower court are:

- 1. That all times material to the allegations of the Complaint, the respective Plaintiffs on their respective separate parcels of real property as identified by the Complaint have not utilized said parcels for "bona fide agricultural purposes" as defined by Fla. Stat. 193.461....
- At all times material to the allegations of 3. the Plaintiffs' Complaint, the Plaintiffs' use of the respective parcels for agricultural purposes was contrary to the Citrus County Land Development Code district's use designation on the property. Specifically, the Citrus County Land Use Designation of PD-R prohibits agricultural uses; thus said use was not a bona fide use and made in good faith. (R-17-19)

On April 18, 1996, the parties filed with the Court a stipulation as to pertinent facts and synopsis of the issues. Both parties filed extensive motions for summary judgment with briefs. Each party's respective motion for summary judgment were denied by the trial court.

The matter was tried in a non-jury trial before the Honorable Patricia Thomas, Circuit Court Judge, on May 9-11, 1996. On June 5, 1996, the lower Court entered its final judgment on behalf of the Appellee as to SUGARMILL, wherein the Trial Court made the following pertinent findings:

- The preponderance of the evidence presented, 11. including the referenced testimony of Mr. DeMoya, supports a finding that the grazing activities ceased for a period of more than 180 days beginning in 1992. Demoya testified that, during 1992, the fences around the subject area were broken and there was no appearance of cattle or grazing activities. The lapse that occurred in 1992 apparently continued until the new cattle grazing lease was entered into between SUGARMILL and Mr. (See Defendant's Exhibits "N," "O," Thomas. Plaintiff produced no evidence to and "P"). show that there was a continuing use of the This lapse is significant property. as grazing is an agricultural use that is otherwise not permitted in land designated as PRD. (emphasis supplied)
- SUGARMILL argues that the cattle grazing 12. activities were continuous enough to warrant a finding that they are a continuing, legal and non-conforming use under the C.C.L.D.C. As part of that proposition, SUGARMILL introduced into evidence the opinion letter of Gary Maidhof of the Citrus County Development Department dated July 7, 1994. That letter was offered for the purposes of establishing the opinion of the Department of that Development for Citrus County supported an agricultural classification of the property. While this Court recognizes that the opinion of the administrative agency charged with the

enforcement of the Development Code is entitled to great weight, the evidence in this case dictates that this Court finds that the cattle grazing activities occurring in 1994 were an illegal, non-conforming use. Such a finding requires a ruling that the cattle grazing did not support an agricultural classification as requested by SUGARMILL in 1994.

13. Specifically, Section 3140 of the C.C.L.D.C. requires that:

"....If a nonconforming use of a structure or land ceases...or if that use has been <u>discontinued for a period of 180 consecutive</u> <u>days or for any intermittent period amounting</u> <u>to 180 days in any one calendar year</u>. use of the structure or the structure and the land shall thereafter conform to the standards of this Code" (emphasis supplied).

Therefore, even if cattle grazing had occurred as a non-conforming use prior to 1992, the evidence shows that it ceased in 1992 and did not recommence until sometime in 1994, which is clearly more than 180 days. Thus, SUGARMILL was required to have the cattle activity properly exempted and grazing the permitted by the County. Thus, determination of the County Development Department is not supported by the application of these facts to the requirements of the C.C.L.D.C.

14. Moreover, as the C.C.L.D.C. does not permit agricultural uses, such as grazing, to occur in areas designated as PRD, the application of SUGARMILL was properly rejected as to the grazing activities. The agricultural classification is not permitted for a use which violates the applicable land use code, unless an exemption has been received to allow the illegal, non-conforming use. <u>Robbins v.</u> <u>Yusem,</u> 559 So. 2d 1185, 1187 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990).

16. Based on the foregoing, SUGARMILL has not met its burden of showing that there was no reasonable hypothesis to support the decision of the Property Appraiser as to the application of SUGARMILL in 1994. (R-891-895)

On February 6, 1998, the Fifth District Court of Appeal rendered its decision on the appeal and cross appeal. See: Love PGI Partners, L.P. v. Schultz, 706 So. 2d 887 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). ("Love PGI") The pertinent section of that opinion to the SUGARMILL parcel in issue starts at page 1156 through page 1160. A complete copy being attached hereto. The decision essentially holds that agricultural activities are "not" development per §380.04 Fla. Stat., §163.3164(4) Fla. Stat. and Citrus County Land Development regulations. Accordingly, the use is <u>not</u> contrary to the Code and therefore in good faith, thus bona fide, and entitled to the agricultural classification applied for pursuant to §193.461(3)(b). Specifically, the Court states:

No Code adopted pursuant to Chapter 163 can alter its intended impact. Comprehensive plans adopted pursuant to Chapter 163 are intended to regulate and control "development," as defined by the statute and the Code. They are intended to have no impact on classification of lands as agricultural for ad valorem tax purposes, pursuant to section 193.3194(5).

From this decision, Petitioner timely invoked the jurisdiction of this Court pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(IV). This Court granted jurisdiction on June 20, 1998.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The initial two (2) parcels in issue in the lower court - LOVE PGI, Alternate Key #7240539, and SUGARMILL, Alternate Key #1525098, were until tax year 1993, one parcel. LOVE PGI acquired its interests in the 343.98 (MOL) acre parcel in mid-July, 1992. Common facts applicable to both parcels until mid-July, 1992 were:

1. That in 1977 and subsequent years (via a series of amendments), the Plaintiff's predecessor in title voluntarily rezoned the SUGARMILL parcel from R-1 (single family residential) to PUD multi-use special exemption of residential (single and multi-family) and commercial. As of January 1, 1994, the land use designation of the SUGARMILL parcel under the current Citrus County comprehensive plan and development code is <u>planned development</u>residential ("PDR"). The LOVE PGI parcel at all times being designated within said PUD for commercial land use; The SUGARMILL parcel being designated for residential use; [Paragraph E, Joint Stipulation page 5/last sentence Paragraph D, page 2].

2. From 1984 through 1991, the Citrus County Property Appraiser classified the SUGARMILL parcel as agricultural and recognized the parcel as one parcel for ad valorem tax purposes. For the purposes of 1994 ad valorem taxation, the Citrus County Property Appraiser assigned one tax key number to the SUGARMILL parcel, and a separate tax key number for Love PGI [Paragraph H, page 6, Joint Stipulation] (the later not in issue herein).

3. On July 1, 1992 SUGARMILL's parcel was Alternate Key #1525098. After a review of SUGARMILL's application for agricultural classification for that year, which included the two (2) parcels, the agricultural classification was denied on all but the planted timber land and the 160 acre pasture area abutting on Citrus County Road 491. In 1992, no petition was filed to appeal the decision of the Property Appraiser to the VAB.

4. In 1993, the existing agricultural classifications on SUGARMILL were automatically renewed. No new applications for agricultural classification were submitted on either the LOVE PGI or SUGARMILL property in 1993. [Paragraph J, page 6, Joint Stipulation].

The SCHULTZ's issue herein is limited to the question of SUGARMILL's renewed agricultural use in 1994 as not being an authorized use per Citrus County's Land Development Code (LDC)

regulations. The below statement of facts is accordingly limited to this issue.

The parties in their pretrial stipulation agreed that the cattle grazing use of the SUGARMILL property north of County Road 480 (3,103 acres) (T-331,337) under the Jessie Thomas lease was substantial, commercial agricultural activities - <u>the issue was such "bona fide.</u>" South of County Road 480 the actual use was planted pines and an area of so called "regeneration" (parcel not in issue herein).

The pertinent facts commence with SUGARMILL notifying SCHULTZ that in 1994 the Appellants would be <u>re</u>commencing agricultural activities. (R- 695-696) (Emphasis supplied). Thereafter, the 1994 agricultural classification filing was made by SUGARMILL. (R-759-760) In March, 1994, SCHULTZ requested the Citrus County Department of Development Services (DDS) whether such agricultural uses were authorized in the existing land use district. The DDS made an inquiry of SUGARMILL but received no answer. (R-699-700) On June 30, 1994, the Appellee granted (in part) and denied (in part) the SUGARMILL agricultural classification application. See Statement of the Case. On July 6, 1994, SUGARMILL's legal counsel wrote a letter to the County's DDS therein requesting a formal determination that the agricultural uses by SUGARMILL were

authorized per the County's land development regulations. (R-218, 219) Significantly, this letter did not mention the lack of cattle grazing from 1991 to late 1993, it did however highlight as forestry activity <u>only</u> the planted pines lying south of County Road 480, and included the Thomas cattle lease north of County Road 480 (3,100 acres) (MOL). The matter was reviewed by DDS staff (T-68) and one (1) day later, (July 7th), a form letter, was written stating as follows:

... Under the Zoning Ordinance, agriculture was a permitted continuing use in the PD. Under the Land Development Code, the current land use designation allows agriculture provided it is compatible with the surrounding area, and standards for development are met as specified If someone applies for a new in the Code. agricultural permit in this category, confirmation would come after staff has determined that the use is compatible with the surrounding area.

When an agricultural use is already taking place, confirmation of the use may be obtained from the Department of Development Services based on evidence reviewed. Based on evidence presented to this Department, this parcel was being used agriculturally and is therefore considered a bona fide use in the <u>Planned</u> <u>Development Residential</u> land use district.... (R-701)

Testimony on this issue centered on the remarks of Mr. Vincent Cautero, former director of Citrus County Department of Development Services and Mr. Gary Maidhof, Citrus County Land Use Planner who worked for and reported to Mr. Cautero. Mr. Cautero indicated that:

- His duties included formal interpretations of the LDC (T-19);
- (2) His department did receive a request as to whether or not agricultural uses were permitted per the County's Land Development Code (T-20-21);
- (3) That his staff concluded agricultural uses were permitted uses in the Planned Development -Residential district of the Appellants (T-22) per Mr. Maidhof's letter of July 7, 1994 (T-23);
- (4) On cross, Mr. Cautero stated the actual use of property - cattle grazing, fencing, etc. represented "development" (T-32) per the LDC;
- (5) That Mr. Maidhof had primary responsibility to determine and prepare the response to the Appellant's inquiry on the land use question;
- (6) Mr. Cautero, at page 37 of the trial transcript stated the following on the issue of whether authorized land uses in the PDR land use district are controlled by the master plan:
- Q. Would it be an accurate statement that the land uses in the PDR district under the 1990 LDC are controlled by the underlying master plan which generated that PDR district?
- A. Yes. The -- yes, that would be accurate.
- Q. Do you know if the SUGARMILL, Love PGI master plan authorizes agricultural uses?
- A. I couldn't tell you with certainty if it does or not, no.

Q. Would -- the official approval would control that; would it not?

A. Yes, I believe it would.

(7) That Appendix G to the LDC (a schedule of uses for each land use district) states agricultural uses were prohibited in the Appellant's land use district of PDR (T-44);

(8) Notwithstanding, Appendix G, Mr. Cautero related that the basis for his department's letter of July 7, 1994, was that the Appellant's agricultural use was taking place prior to adoption of the LDC and continuous. In short, valid non-conforming uses (T-45, T-46);

(9) On re-cross, Mr. Cautero acknowledge for the Department of Development Services letter of July 7 to be correct, it assumed the continuous agricultural use (T-46, T-47); -

(10) Finally, he indicated <u>no</u> knowledge of the two (2) year hiatus in cattle grazing activities on site. (T-46-47)

Mr. Maidhof, a Citrus County land use planner, testified to the process of and the substance of his letter of July 7th. He indicated such was a form letter but sent after inquiry with his supervisor Mr. Cautero. Significantly at page 62 of the trial transcript he concludes "agricultural could <u>continue</u> as a use;" "an allowable use" (T-63) predicated on evidence of the applicant the

use had continued for an extended period of time predating the LDC (T-63) Mr. Maidhof stated that agricultural uses do <u>not</u> require a development permit as such was not "development" as defined by the LDC (T-65).

On cross, Mr. Maidhof related he did not go on the property in issue. (T-68) He admitted that the information upon which his letter was written did not contain specific evidence of any cattle leasing from 1989 - 1993 (T-70) and he did not make an inquiry. (T-70) Also he had the property appraiser information relative to the partial loss of Agricultural classification in the year 1992-1993. Mr. Maidhof disagreed with Mr. Cautero's testimony that the definition of "development" applied to agricultural uses under the LDC (T-75) Mr. Maidhof admitted that agriculture as defined in the definition used in the Florida County LDC is the same Administrative Code absent a definition in the County's LDC. (T-79) Per that definition, (Fla. Admin. Code, R. 9J-5.03 ) cattle grazing was an agricultural use. (T-80) That the definition of "Development" such was found in §380.06 Fla. Stat. dealing with developments of regional impact and such exempts agriculture. (T-79-80)

He admitted that in his determination that agriculture (cattle grazing) is not development he had <u>not</u> considered §380.06(4) Fla.

Stat. and he had no knowledge of such. (T-82) Further, that this statute distinguishes between development as used in the chapter and as used in an ordinance (T-84) but he did not consider such. (T-84-85)

Referring to other sections of the code, Mr. Maidhof indicated Section 2020 of the Code defined when development orders were required. (T-85) The operative phrase was "development under the Code" and not development as defined by statute (sic §380.04 Fla. Stat.) (T-86) In reviewing the Code, Mr. Maidhof stated agricultural activity was <u>not</u> expressly exempted. (T-86) (T-87) Mr. Maidhof noted the use of agriculture as a specific expressly recognized land use (T-90), and would be designed by Fla. Admin. Code, R. 9J-5.03(4) (T-90) and that Appendix G reflects that agriculture uses are prohibited in the PD-R land use district. Mr. Maidhof stated there was not an "ambiguity" in this section of the Code (T-91) Mr. Maidhof also noted the PDR district on its face did not authorize agricultural uses (T-92) and land uses within any PDR district were controlled by the underlying master plan previously approved. In the case of SUGARMILL master plan, such approval does not include agriculture. (T-93,94,97) He acknowledged that prior zoning codes, 1980 and 1986 respectively, had zoned SUGARMILL as PD (Planned Development) and this land use did not authorize

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