017

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

AUG 19 1998

RONALD SCHULTZ, et. al.

Petitioners,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

v.

CASE NO: 92,803 DCA CASE No. 96-01973

LOVE PGI PARTNERS, L.P., et. al.

Respondents.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF OF THE MERITS

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIFTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Enola T. Brown
Robert L. Rocke
ANNIS, MITCHELL, COCKEY,
EDWARDS & ROEHN, P.A.
Post Office Box 3433
Tampa, Florida 33601
Attorneys for
Love PGI Partners, L.P.
(813) 229-3321
(813) 223-9067 (FAX)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court did not err. The District Court found, based on the clear and unambiguous language of the definition of "development" in Section 380.04(1), Florida Statute, and the Section forth from "development" in set exclusions 380.04(3)(e), Florida Statutes, that Sugarmill's cattle grazing not "development." Consequently, the District Court concluded that the Code - which requires "development" under exercise 380.04, Florida Statutes, for its Section jurisdiction - had no application to cattle grazing. Since cattle grazing was not "development" - the jurisdictional predicate for regulation under the Code, Section 1300J. - then neither the Code, its zoning regulations nor the holding of Robbins v. Yusem, 559 So. 2d 1185 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), which addresses the legality of a use under zoning regulations, could apply to Sugarmill's cattle grazing and since neither the zoning regulations of the Code nor the holding of Robbins had any application to that cattle grazing, then neither the Code nor Robbins could be used to determine if that activity was bona fide under Chapter 193, Florida Statutes.

Schultz's sole basis for not classifying Sugarmill's cattle grazing as agricultural was the legality of Sugarmill's agricultural activity under the Code. Love PGI Partners, L.P. v. Schultz, 706 So. 2d 887, 892 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) ("...there is

no basis to conclude that this was a non-existent, or sham (not a bona fide) livestock activity.") Since the Code does not regulate cattle grazing and Schultz raised no other basis for not classifying Sugarmill's property as agricultural, then Sugarmill's agricultural use of its land was legal, in good faith and bona fide. <u>Id</u>. Therefore, Schultz's denial of an agricultural exemption for Sugarmill's cattle grazing departed from the essential requirements of law and constituted an abuse of discretion. <u>Gianolio v. Markham</u>, 564 So. 2d 1131 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); Love PGI Partners, 706 So. 2d at 894.

This Court should affirm the District Court's decision.

THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT FOUND THAT CHAPTER 163, PART II, THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT ACT, AND THE CITRUS COUNTY LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE DO NOT REGULATE SUGARMILL'S CATTLE GRAZING ACTIVITIES.

II

SECTION 163.3194(5), FLA. STAT. (1985), DOES NOT ABROGATE THE REQUIREMENT THAT AGRICULTURAL USES THAT CONSTITUTE "DEVELOPMENT" MUST BE LEGAL UNDER A LOCAL GOVERNMENT'S LDR'S IN ORDER TO MEET THE GOOD FAITH REQUIREMENT OF SECTION 193.461(3)(D), FLA. STAT.

The question decided by the District Court - and thus the question before this Court - is not, as Schultz asserts, whether all agricultural uses are excluded from the definition of "development" in Section 380.04, Florida Statutes, whether one specific use - cattle grazing - is excluded from that definition, and if it is, then whether the Citrus County Land Development Code ("Code") - which requires "development" a condition precedent to its exercise of as regulatory jurisdiction, Section 1300.J., Code ("...the requirements of this Code apply to all development...") - can be applied Sugarmill's cattle grazing to determine if that activity is "bona fide" under Chapter 193, Florida Statutes. The District Court concluded that the provisions of the Code had

application to Sugarmill's cattle grazing. That conclusion was correct.

District Court found, based the on clear and The unambiguous language of the definition of "development" in Section 380.04(1), Florida Statutes (which requires "...making of any material change in the use or appearance of any structure or land," Section 380.04(1), Florida Statutes, in order for an activity to constitute "development"), and the exclusion from "development" set forth in Section 380.04(3)(e), Florida Statutes, that Sugarmill's cattle grazing was not "development." Consequently, the District Court concluded that the Code - which requires "development" under Section 380.04, Florida Statutes, for its exercise of jurisdiction - had no application to cattle grazing. 1 Neither the Code, its zoning regulations, nor the holding of Robbins v. Yusem, 559 So. 2d 1185 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), which addresses the legality of a use under zoning regulations, applies to Sugarmill's cattle since the jurisdictional predicate for regulation under the Code has not been met. Section 1300 J, Code. Thus, because cattle grazing does not constitute "development," then neither the

¹Until, presumably, the nature of the activity was altered such that the activity "...[made] a material change in the use or appearance of the land or structure," Section 380.04(1), Florida Statutes.

Code nor <u>Robbins</u> could be used to determine if that activity was bona fide under Chapter 193, Florida Statutes.²

The Fifth District Court of Appeal did not err.

The plain and ordinary meaning of the Code evidences that Sugarmill's cattle grazing is not "development," as a matter of law, and thus it is not regulated by the Code. See §§ 1300 J. Land Development Code Citrus County and requirements of this Code apply to all development...;" "Development: The carrying out of any building activity or mining operation, the making of any material change in the use or appearance of any structure or land, or the dividing of land into three or more parcels. This definition includes all references as specified in Section 380.04(2)-(11), Florida Statutes.") Since Sugarmill's cattle grazing is not regulated by the Code, then neither the Code nor the holding Robbins v. Yusem, 559 So. 2d at 1185 - which addresses the legality of uses under a land development code - have any application to Sugarmill's cattle grazing and cannot be used as a basis for the "...classification of lands [like Sugarmill's] as agricultural for ad valorem

²The District Court also concluded that zoning could not be determinative of whether a parcel was entitled to agricultural classification under Chapter 193, Florida Statutes. Love PGI Partners, 706 So. 2d at 892.

purposes pursuant to section 193.3194(5)." Love PGI Partners,
L.P. v. Schultz, 706 So. 2d 887, 893 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998).

Schultz's sole basis for not classifying Sugarmill's cattle grazing as agricultural was the legality of Sugarmill's agricultural activity under the Code. Id. at 894 ("...there is no basis to conclude that this was a non-existent, or sham (not a bona fide) livestock activity."). Since the Code does not regulate cattle grazing and Schultz raised no other basis for not classifying Sugarmill's property as agricultural, then Sugarmill's agricultural use of its land was legal, in good faith and bona fide. Id. Therefore, Schultz's denial of an agricultural exemption for Sugarmill's cattle grazing departed from the essential requirements of law and constituted an abuse

³ Sugarmill does not dispute that zoning can be considered by the property appraiser under Section 193.461(3)(b)7, Florida Statutes, to determine if a use is "bona fide." However, zoning is not determinative of that question, Love PGI Partners, 706 So. 2d at 892; Wilkinson v. Kirby, 654 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995); Lackey v. Little England, Inc., 461 So. 2d 1281 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985); but it is just one of the factors to be evaluated. Love PGI Partners, 706 So. 2d at 892.

Here, the District Court concluded, correctly, that the trial court committed two errors. First, the trial court considered that the issue of zoning determined conclusively the question of whether Sugarmill's cattle grazing was bona fide. That consideration is contrary to the law. More importantly, however, is the fact that the trial court concluded, contrary to the clear and unambiguous language of Section 380.04, Florida Statutes, and the Code, that Sugarmill's cattle grazing was subject to regulation under the land development regulations of the Code. That conclusion was wrong.

of discretion. Gianolio v. Markham, 564 So. 2d 1131 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); Love PGI Partners, 706 So. 2d at 893-894.

Part II, Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, known as the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act ("Act"), mandates that local governments adopt land development regulations. See, \$163.3202, Fla. Stat. (1995) ("Within 1 year after submission of its revised comprehensive plan for review pursuant to s. 163.3167(2), each county... in this state shall adopt or amend and enforce land development regulations that are consistent with and implement their adopted comprehensive plan.").

The Code is the "land development regulation" for Citrus County ("County"). See, Section 1100 of the Code. Therefore, the Code sets out the regulations applicable to the development of land in the County and the regulations that implement the

⁴Section 1100 of the Code states: "The Citrus County Land Development Code is adopted pursuant to Chapter 163, Part II, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 125, Florida Statutes." argues, at p. 30 of his brief, that the trial court found - based on County "policy" and its consideration of certain provisions of the Code which regulate agricultural uses - that the County had adopted standards that were "stricter" than the definition of "development" in Section 380.04 and thus applied to Sugarmill's cattle grazing. That assertion is belied by the fact that (1) the Code was adopted under Chapter 125, Florida Statutes, and thus the Code represents the full exercise of the powers granted a county under law; and (2) the County - in its exercise of its powers under Chapters 163 and 125 - incorporated the entire definition of "development" in the Code, including the exclusions from that definition in Section 380.04(3), Florida Statues. Section 1500 of the Code.

Comprehensive Plan. <u>See</u>, §1300 J. of the Code ("The requirements of this Code <u>apply to all development</u> occurring after the effective date of this Code unless otherwise exempted by this Code, the ... Comprehensive Plan, or other ordinance.").

Land development regulations are:

ordinances enacted by governing bodies for the regulation of any aspect of development and includes any local government zoning, rezoning, subdivision, building construction, or sign regulations or any other regulations controlling the development of land.

\$163.3164(23), Fla. Stat. (1995) (emphasis added).

By definition, land development regulations like the Code apply - - and thus regulate -- only those activities that constitute "development." Id.

"Development," for purposes of the Act and the land development regulations adopted thereunder -- here, the Code -- "... has the meaning given it in s. 380.04." \$163.3164(6), Fla. Stat. (1995). The language of this provision is clear and unambiguous and must be accorded its plain meaning. Citizens of the State of Florida v. Public Service Commission, 425 So. 2d 534 (Fla. 1982).

Section 380.04, Florida Statutes, defines "development" as:

The term "development" means the carrying out of any building activity or mining operation, the making of any material change in the use or appearance of any structure or land, or the dividing of land into three or more parcels.

§380.04(1), Fla. Stat. (1995).

However, not all activities are "development." The activity must "...mak[e] a material change in the use or appearance of any structure or land," Section 380.04(1), Florida Statutes, and it must not be excluded from that definition by Section 380.04(3), Florida Statutes:

(3) The following operations or uses **shall not** be taken for the purpose of this chapter to **involve "development"** as defined in this section:

§380.04(3), Fla. Stat. (1995).

The mandatory language of this exclusion is clear and unambiguous, Board of County Commissioners of Monroe County v.

Department of Community Affairs, 560 So. 2d 240, 242 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) ("Where the language of a statute is unambiguous it must be accorded its plain meaning."); Steinbrecher v. Better Constr'n Co. 587 So. 2d 492, 493 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) ("It is also an accepted principle that the use of the term "shall" in a statute normally has a mandatory connotation."), and a court has no power to give this language any meaning beyond the clear intent accorded it by the legislature. Public Health Trust of Dade County v. Lopez, 531 So. 2d 946 (Fla. 1988); Holly v. Auld, 450 So. 2d 217 (Fla. 1984); Bill Smith, Inc. v. Cox, 166 So. 2d 497 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964).

Section 380.04(3), Florida Statutes, identifies those activities, including certain "agricultural activities," that do

not involve the "...making of any material change in the use or appearance of any structure or land," \$380.04(1), Florida. Statutes, which are, therefore, excluded as a matter of law from "development." The "excluded" agricultural activities include:

(e) The use of any land for the purpose of growing plants, crops, trees, and other agricultural or forestry products; raising livestock; or for other agricultural purposes.

\$380.04(3)(e), Fla. Stat. (1995).

This exclusion does not encompass all agricultural activities. City of Oveido, 699 So. 2d 316, 318 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) ("The legislature could have required the PSC to defer to a properly adopted comprehensive plan, but it did not do so."). Even Schultz admits this. Brief at 20 ("In summary, the gist of Chapter 380.00 regulation of agricultural uses is agricultural uses may be development if а structure potentially involved but cattle grazing (agriculture) is exempted from that Chapter's regulatory authority."). In fact, only those agricultural uses that fall within the plain and ordinary meaning of the language of subsection (3)(e) are excluded. Board of County Commissioners of Monroe County, 560 So. 2d at 241 ("The definition of development in Section 380.04, Florida Statutes, specifically excludes `[w]ork by a highway or road agency ... for the maintenance or improvement of a road ... if the work is carried out on land within the boundaries of the right-ofway'."). The plain and ordinary meaning of "raising livestock" includes cattle grazing. Love PGI Partners, 706 So. 2d at 893.

Therefore, the clear and unambiguous language of Section 380.04(3), Florida Statutes, evidences that the use of land for any of the purposes identified in subsection (3)(e), including the raising of livestock, is cattle grazing, or "development," as a matter of law, and cannot be subject to or regulated by those land development regulations adopted by local governments (like the County) under Section 163.3202, Florida Statutes. Board of County Commissioners of Monroe County, 560 So. 2d at 241 ("Since `maintenance or improvement of a road' by a county, where such `work is carried out on land within the boundaries of the right-of-way,' is not `development' ... the FDCA lacks jurisdiction to order Monroe County to cease all road work until the County complies with the County's development regulations ..."). See, Public Health Trust of Dade County, 531 So. 2d at 949 ("In construing a statute, courts cannot attribute to the legislature an intent beyond that expressed.").

It is clear that the Code regulates, and thus applies to, development.

The requirements of this Code apply to all **development** occurring after the effective date of this Code unless otherwise exempted by this Code, the Citrus County Comprehensive Plan, or other ordinance.

\$1300 J., Citrus County Land Development Code.

Moreover, the Code defines "development" by incorporating the definition set forth in Section 380.04, as well as the statutory exclusions from that definition:

<u>Development</u>: The carrying out of any building activity or mining operation, the making of any material change in the use or appearance of any structure or land, or the dividing of land into three or more parcels. This definition includes all references as specified in Section 380.04 (2)-(11), Florida Statutes.

\$1500, Citrus County Land Development Code (emphasis added).

The language of Section 1500 of the Code is clear and Therefore, those agricultural activities that are unambiquous. excluded from "development" under Section 380.04(3)(e), Florida Statutes, are also excluded from regulation under the Code. Board of County Commissioners of Monroe County, 560 So. 2d at 241; see, Florida Publishing Co. v. State, 706 So. 2d 54, 55-56 (Fla. 1st 1998) where the court concludes, based on clear unambiguous language, that rule incorporates statutory exemptions; Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co v. Huntington Nat'l Bank., 609 So. 2d 1315, 1317 (Fla. 1992) ("It must be assumed that the legislature knows the meaning of the words and has expressed its intent by the words found in the statute."); Comerica Bank & Trust, F.S.B. v. SDI Operating Partners, L.P., 673 So. 2d 163 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

Sugarmill's cattle grazing is a "... use of any land for the purpose of ... raising livestock." §380.04(3)(e), Fla. Stat.

Therefore, Sugarmill's cattle grazing is excluded from "development" and the Code has no legal application to that activity. Id.

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